FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
4/6/2018/4:50 PM

FILED

APR 13 2018

WASHINGTON STATE

WUPREME COURT

95718-5

No. 75475-1-I

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### TERA L. HENDRICKSON,

Appellant,

v.

# DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ryan A. Johnson, WSBA# 48243 Vail, Cross-Euteneier & Associates 819 Martin Luther King Jr. Way P.O. Box 5707 Tacoma, WA 98415-0707 (253) 383-8770 Attorney for Appellant

#

#### I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

COMES NOW the Petitioner, Tera L. Hendrickson, Appellant and Plaintiff below, and hereby asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review.

#### II. DECISION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4), Ms. Hendrickson seeks review of *Hendrickson v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 2 Wn. App. 2d 343, 409 P.3d 1162 (Div. I, 2018). The Court of Appeals, Division I, filed its opinion on January 29, 2018. Reconsideration was denied March 7, 2018.

#### III.ISSUE

Whether the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals erred in concluding that Ms. Hendrickson failed to make a prima facie case showing that the conditions proximately caused by her October 9, 2007 industrial injury worsened within the meaning of RCW 51.32.160 between May 10, 2012 and September 8, 2014.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Procedural History

This matter originates under RCW Title 51, the Industrial Insurance Act ("Act") from an Administrative Law Review appeal from a June 8, 2015

Decision and Order of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals ("Board").

Ms. Hendrickson received benefits under an industrial injury claim with the Department of Labor and Industries ("Department"), which the Department closed on May 10, 2012. On September 25, 2013, Ms. Hendrickson filed an application to reopen her claim, which the Department denied. Ms. Hendrickson appealed denial to the Board. After the close of Ms. Hendrickson's presentation of her evidence, the Department filed a motion to dismiss. The Board granted the Department's motion to dismiss, concluding that Ms. Hendrickson failed to establish a prima facie case as required by RCW 51.52.050. Ms. Hendrickson appealed the Board's dismissal to superior court, which affirmed the Board. Ms. Hendrickson then appealed to the Court of Appeals, which affirmed the superior court and denied reconsideration. This petition for review follows.

#### **B.** Statement of Facts

Ms. Hendrickson suffered an injury on October 9, 2007 in the course of her employment with Staffmark LLC, Pacific. CP at 113. As a result, she had pain and irritation in her middle and lower back and pinching down her right leg. CP at 114. She sought treatment the next morning. *Id.* Ms. Hendrickson filed an industrial injury claim with the Department, which was accepted. Her symptoms persisted in the form of constant stiffness and pain from her neck to her low back, headaches, her hands and feet falling asleep. CP at 117-118. There were times that she couldn't stand due to the

severity of her symptoms. CP at 115.

Ms. Hendrickson received surgery, several rounds of physical therapy, and cortisone injections. CP at 117. She also received massage and laser treatments, as well as completed a pain clinic program prior to her claim closing on May 10, 2012. *Id.* At closure, Ms. Hendrickson was paid a permanent partial disability ("PPD") award equal to a Category 4 for dorsolumbar and lumbosacral impairment under WAC 296-20-280. She still had residual sciatic pain, numbness and nerve pain in her vaginal area and buttocks, and occasional headaches, as well as intermittent back pain that was getting better, but had not completely resolved. CP at 117.

In September 2013, Ms. Hendrickson applied to reopen her claim because she was experiencing a worsening of the symptoms of her industrial injury. CP at 120. The worsened symptoms included increased pain in her neck, mid back, and low back; numbness and tingling in her right buttocks; constant sciatic pain; headaches; hand pain and tingling; and pain shooting down her arms. *Id.* She testified her symptoms had worsened and become more constant to the point that they "basically caused me the inability to function at my normal job duties." CP at 116.

Ms. Hendrickson testified that her pain level had elevated to a six to seven out of ten in September 2014, as opposed to a two to three out of ten when her claim closed in May 2012. CP at 121. Ms. Hendrickson further

testified that she could no longer run, fish, ride a motorcycle, or perform her house chores at her previous frequency. CP at 122-124.

Deanne Corrie, Ms. Hendrickson's friend of twenty-five years, corroborated Ms. Hendrickson's increased disability. She testified that, in May and June 2012, she and Ms. Hendrickson would go to the lake and swim, picnic, and fish. CP at 127. In May 2012, Ms. Corrie did not observe anything in Ms. Hendrickson's behavior that would indicate that she was in a large amount of pain. *Id.* However, by September 2014, Ms. Corrie observed Ms. Hendrickson in significant pain. *Id.* She also observed Ms. Hendrickson was no longer able to fish, swim, or perform certain chores such as sweeping or picking up her own laundry. CP at 127-128. Patrice Thomas, Ms. Hendrickson's daughter, also corroborated her increased disability. She testified she saw Ms. Hendrickson daily in May 2012 and her condition appeared normal, she could go to the beach, take walks, grocery shop, and go for car rides. CP at 136. When Ms. Thomas saw Ms. Hendrickson in May 2014, however, she noticed Ms. Hendrickson in more pain and less able to do things like walking and shopping. CP at 137-138.

Michael Martin, M.D., a board-certified orthopedic surgeon licensed and practicing in the state of Washington, testified he has been treating Ms. Hendrickson since the mid-1990s. CP at 156-157, 163. He also

served as Ms. Hendrickson's attending physician<sup>1</sup> on her industrial injury claim. CP at 162. Dr. Martin saw Ms. Hendrickson on January 6, 2014, shortly after she filed her reopening application. At that time, she reported "pain all over." CP at 164. He performed a physical examination, which revealed decreased sensation in her left arm in the C6, C7, C8, and T1 dermatomes. CP at 165. He testified that those findings from his examination indicated "irritation of those particular nerves." *Id.* Dr. Martin ordered MRI scans of her cervical spine and lumbar spine, which were taken on January 17, 2014. CP at 166, 168. He compared them to scans taken prior to the closure of the claim and testified that the findings from the January 17, 2014 scans were "essentially unchanged" from those on the previous scans of her cervical spine in 2011 and her lumbar spine in 2012. CP at 166.

Dr. Martin diagnosed Ms. Hendrickson with post-laminectomy syndrome of the lumbar spine, strain/sprain, and cervical radiculopathy. CP at 166-67. He related those diagnoses to her October 9, 2007 industrial injury on a medically more probable than not basis because Ms. Hendrickson had similar symptoms for several years dating from her 2007 industrial injury. *Id.* Although there was little difference between the imaging studies, Dr. Martin stated that symptoms can worsen without any

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "In cases under [the Act], special consideration should be given to the opinion of the plaintiff's attending physician." *Hamilton v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 111 Wn.2d 569, 761 P.2d 618 (1988).

demonstrable changes on the imaging studies. CP at 169. Moreover, Dr. Martin opined that Ms. Hendrickson's worsening symptoms fit the pathology that she had on her imaging studies. CP at 170-71. Dr. Martin opined that on a medically more probable than not basis that Ms. Hendrickson's conditions proximately caused by her industrial injury of October 9, 2007, had worsened by January 6, 2014 and that, as a result, "she was more symptomatic." CP at 172, 174.

#### V. ARGUMENT

The Supreme Court should accept review of this matter under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court. Specifically, it conflicts with *Wilber v. Dep't of Labor & Indus*, where the Court held that "[a] case may not be reopened if the physician's opinion is *based solely upon* what the workman related to him. If, on the other hand, the injured workman's complaints can be verified by the symptoms disclosed by the physician's clinical examination, all requirements of proof are met." 61 Wn.2d 439, 446, 378 P.2d 684 (1963) (emphasis added).

The Supreme Court should also accept review under RAP 13.4(B)(4) because this petition involves issues of substantial public interest. The Court has repeatedly stated that the underlying policy of the Act is to minimize suffering and economic loss for injured workers and that

"all doubts as to the meaning of the Act are to be resolved in favor of the injured worker." Clauson v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 130 Wn.2d 580, 584, 925 P.2d 624 (1996). The Court of Appeals' reading of Wilber in this case goes against this policy and affect substantial public interest in the protection of injured workers.

#### A. Standard of Review

A party aggrieved by an order of the Board may appeal to superior court. RCW 51.52.060. The superior court's review of the decision and order of the Board is *de novo* but based on the same evidence and testimony received by the Board. RCW 51.52.110. The appealing party has the burden to "establish a prima facie case for the relief sought." RCW 51.52.050. The superior court is empowered to reverse or modify the Board's decision if the court determines the Board incorrectly construed the law or found the facts. "The court may substitute its own findings and decision for the Board's if it finds from a fair preponderance of credible evidence that the Board's findings and decision are incorrect." *McClelland v. I.T.T. Rayonier*, 65 Wn.App 386, 390, 828 P.2d 1138 (Div. II, 1992); *See also Ravsten v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 108 Wn.2d 143, 146,736 P.2d 265 (1987) (holding that the appellant must "establish that the Board's findings are incorrect by a preponderance of the evidence.").

When reviewing factual issues, an appellate court only examines the record to see whether substantial evidence supports the findings made after the superior court's *de novo* review, and whether the court's conclusions of law flow from the findings. *Gorre v. City of Tacoma*, 184 Wn.2d 30, 36, 357 P.3d 625 (2015). "If, in the opinion of the reviewing court, the evidence as to a factual issue is evenly balanced, the finding of the Department [now Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals] as to that issue must stand; but, if the evidence produced by the party attacking the finding preponderates in any degree, then the finding should be set aside." *McLaren v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 6 Wn.2d 164, 168, 107 P.2d 230 (1940). However, questions of law are reviewed *de novo. Cockle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 142 Wn.2d 801, 807, 16 P.3d 583 (2001).

Notably, the Department made its motion to dismiss after Ms. Hendrickson's presentation of evidence and without presenting any of its own. The evidence presented by Ms. Hendrickson is not disputed by any evidence within the record. The question before this Court is, therefore, legal rather than factual. Here, the legal question to be reviewed *de novo* is whether in light of the underlying purpose and policy of the Act, Ms. Hendrickson's conditions proximately caused by her October 9, 2007 industrial injury worsened within the meaning of RCW 51.32.160 between the terminal dates of May 10, 2012 and September 8, 2014.

# B. The Court of Appeals Committed Error Because its Decision Conflicts with the Supreme Court's Decision in Wilber.

#### 1. The Court of Appeals Directly Conflicts with the Rule in Wilber.

The decision of the Court of Appeals in this case is in direct conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in the *Wilber* case. In *Wilber*, the Court ruled that a claim may be re-opened where the findings on imaging studies remains identical from the close of the claim through the time of the re-opening application in instances where the claimant's symptoms worsened and the worsening of those symptoms is consistent with the unchanged diagnostic findings. 61 Wn.2d 439. The *Wilber* court explained a claim "may not be reopened if the physician's opinion is based solely upon what the workman related to him," but that "all requirements of proof are met" if the worker's complaints "can be verified by the symptoms disclosed by the physician's clinical examination." 61 Wn.2d at 446. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals went against *Wilber* when it found against Ms. Hendrickson because she "did not produce any objective medical evidence that her industrial injury became worse." 2 Wn. App.2d at 357.

#### 2. This Case is Closely Analogous to the Facts in Wilber.

Further, the facts in this case are nearly identical to those in *Wilber*. In *Wilber*, a worker sustained an industrial injury whereby he ruptured an intervertebral disc in his back. 61 Wn.2d at 441. The worker chose not to

have surgery to repair the disc and his claim was closed. *Id.* Because of his ruptured disc, the worker experienced acute flare-ups of that became increasingly frequent and incapacitating. *Id.* at 441-42. He applied to reopen his claim on the basis of aggravation, despite the fact that the objective evidence supporting his symptoms, his ruptured disc, was the same as when the claim closed. *Id.* at 440-41, 450-51. Like the claimant in *Wilber*, Ms. Hendrickson applied to reopen her claim because her increased symptoms related to her industrial injury made her unable to function. CP at 169, 116.

The worker's attending physician in *Wilber* testified on his behalf that the worker was in more pain at the time of his reopening application than he was at claim closure. 61 Wn.2d at 442. He also testified that such an increase in symptoms was consistent with the worker's injuries and that he felt that the worker's subjective complaints were "likely true from [his] knowledge of patients of a similar type." *Id.* at 443. This is almost the same as Dr. Martin testifying that Ms. Hendrickson's symptoms had worsened, that her worsening symptoms fit the pathology on her imaging studies, and that it is not unusual for such worsening to occur "without demonstrable changes on the imaging studies." CP at 169-171 (emphasis added). In fact, the Department has conceded that "Dr. Martin did opine that some of Ms. Hendrickson's subjective complaints corresponded to diagnostic imaging that he had ordered." CP at 65.

The attending physician in *Wilber* repeatedly testified that there was no change in the worker's objective symptoms. 61 Wn.2d at 450 (the doctor testified that he "couldn't find any further objective signs" and agreed that "there is no significant difference in the objective symptoms"). However, he nonetheless stated that there was a worsening of the condition because the increase in reported symptoms was consistent with the worker's injuries. *Id.* at 443. Similarly, Dr. Martin opined, based on both Ms. Hendrickson's subjective complaints and the objective diagnostic findings, that, Ms. Hendrickson's symptoms were worse on a medically more probable than not basis *while also agreeing that there was no significant change* in the MRI findings. CP at 169-170 (Emphasis added). Again, similar to the physician in *Wilber* he explained this discrepancy as *it is not unusual* for such worsening to occur "without demonstrable changes on the imaging studies." CP at 169-171 (emphasis added).

As was the physician who testified on behalf of the worker in Wilbur, Dr. Martin was the attending physician under the subject claim. Wilbur, 61 Wn.2d at 441; CP at 162. As attending physician, Dr. Martin's opinions are entitled to special consideration. Hamilton, 111 Wn.2d 569. Despite the lack of change in the objective findings, the Court held that the worker met his burden of proof to show aggravation. 61 Wn.2d. at 446, 449.

Because the instant facts are so clearly analogous to those in *Wilber*, it was clear error for the Court of Appeals to find differently in this case.

3. Wilber is consistent with a Trend in the Courts to Not Require Objective Findings of Conditions that Worsen Without Them.

Further, the rule in *Wilber* is consistent with a trend in the courts to not require objective evidence of worsening on reopening applications for conditions that do not typically yield objective findings. *See e.g. Price v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 101 Wn.2d 520, 682 P.2d 307 (1984); *Felipe v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 195 Wn. App. 908, 381 P.3d 205 (Div. I, 2016); *Lee v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 54 Wn. App. 1057 (Div. III, 1989); *In re Charles Lewis*, BIIA Dec. 07 16483 (2008). Because, Dr. Martin testified it is not unusual for conditions like Ms. Hendrickson's to worsen without a change in the diagnostic findings, the facts of this case fit that trend.

# C. RCW 51.32.160 Contains No Requirement that Aggravation be Shown by "Objective" Evidence.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court because it held that Ms. Hendrickson "did not produce any objective medical evidence that her industrial injury became worse after the Department closed the claim in May 2012." *Hendrickson*, 2 Wn. App.2d at 357-358. However, the Act does not contain an objective evidence requirement to establish aggravation of an industrially-related condition. Further, the purpose behind the judicial creation of any such requirement is not frustrated by the Facts in this matter.

Objective findings are those within the independent knowledge of the doctor, because they are perceptible to persons other than a patient. *Hinds v. Johnson*, 55 Wn.2d 325, 347 P. 2d 828 (1959). Subjective findings are those perceived only by the senses and feelings of a patient. *Hinds*, 55 Wn.2d 325. The statutory authority to reopen a closed claim for aggravation is governed by RCW 51.32.160. It provides:

If aggravation, diminution, or termination of disability takes place, the director may, upon the application of the beneficiary, made within seven years from the date the first closing order becomes final, or at any time upon his or her own motion, readjust the rate of compensation in accordance with the rules in this section provided for the same, or in a proper case terminate the payment: PROVIDED, That the director may, upon application of the worker made at any time, provided proper and necessary medical and surgical services as authorized under RCW 51.36.010. The department shall promptly mail a copy of the application to the employer at the employer's last known address as shown by the records of the department.

RCW 51.32.160(1)(a). The statute contains no requirement for "objective" evidence of worsening. Any such requirement is purely a creature of judicial creation. *Wilber*, 61 Wn.2d at 446.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Hinds, also stands for the proposition that it is less necessary for a treating physician, such as Dr. Martin, to base his testimony upon objective or clinical findings than a physician's who sees a person for the sole purpose of testifying at trial because "a patient seeking treatment knows that he serves his own best interest by telling the truth in order that his doctor may arrive at a correct diagnosis of his ailment," resulting in a "high warranty of truth-fulness." 55 Wn.2d at 327.

The Supreme Court explained the purpose and reasoning behind the judicial creation of the objective evidence requirement in *Kresoya v. Dep't of Labor & Indus*.:

The rule that an expert medical witness may not base his opinion upon subjective symptoms alone is designed to protect the industrial insurance fund against unfounded claims of aggravation. If such claims could be established by the testimony of a physician who based his opinion *entirely upon* what the claimant told him, it would open the door to fraudulent claims, as well as those mistakenly made in good faith. A claimant might honestly believe his subsequent condition arose out of his original injury, but this is a medical question and an opinion thereon must be derived from sources other than the claimant's statement.

40 Wn.2d 40, 45, 240 P.2d 257 (1952) (emphasis added). The purpose behind the judicially-created objective evidence requirement is not frustrated in this case because Ms. Hendrickson's reopening application is not predicated solely upon her subjective symptoms. Indeed, the Court in *Kresoya* stated that the protective rule that a physician may not rely solely upon a worker's subjective symptoms "must not be applied to situations where there is a combination of subjective and objective symptoms, which an expert may be able to tie together." 40 Wn.2d at 45. Such is the case here. Dr. Martin testified based on his review of all medical records and his long-time treatment of Ms. Hendrickson. He made clear that his opinion that Ms. Hendrickson's condition had worsened since May 10, 2012 was not only because she was having worsening symptoms, but that those symptoms fit

with the pathology of her injury based upon her imaging studies. CP at 171. Because Dr. Martin is not relying solely upon Ms. Hendrickson's report of her symptoms, the purpose behind requiring objective findings is not frustrated. Accordingly, the courts' requirement for objective evidence of worsening need not apply here. This is especially so because the facts of this case are closely analogous to those in *Wilber*.

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