FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/5/2018 1:08 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 95718-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TERA L. HENDRICKSON,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Anastasia Sandstrom Senior Counsel WSBA No. 24163 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Ave., Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-6993

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The parties do not dispute that, to reopen her claim, Hendrickson must show that her industrially related condition had worsened, at least in part, based on objective medical findings. Here, because no objective findings proved that her condition had changed, this case does not warrant review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b).

Washington courts have long required objective evidence of worsening in aggravation cases involving physical injury. Hendrickson argues that one case, *Wilber*, holds that she need show only her subjective complaints could be supported clinically, even if there were no objective worsening in her condition since claim closure. Pet. 9 (citing *Wilber v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 61 Wn.2d 439, 446, 378 P.2d 684 (1963)). But as other Supreme Court cases make clear, *Wilber* did not change the requirement that Hendrickson show objective evidence of worsening. Thus, Hendrickson shows no conflict with this Court's cases. Nor does her attempt to evade stare decisis present this Court with an issue of substantial public interest that warrants review.

A. Washington Courts Have Long Required Objective Evidence of Worsening to Support Claims for Worsening of an Industrial Injury

RCW 51.32.160(1)(a) provides that a worker may apply to reopen a claim after a final closing order "if aggravation . . . of disability takes place." To show an "aggravation" of the disability and reopen a claim under this provision, workers must establish by medical testimony: (1) a causal relationship between the industrial injury and the later disability; (2) evidence, "some of it based upon objective symptoms, that an aggravation of the injury resulted in increased disability"; (3) increased disability between the terminal dates; and (4) evidence, "some of it based upon objective symptoms" between the terminal dates, that the disability at the second terminal date "was greater than the [Department] found it to be." *Phillips*, 49 Wn.2d at 197; *see also Cooper*, 188 Wn. App. at 648; *Cantu v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 168 Wn. App. 14, 20, 277 P.3d 685 (2012); *Eastwood*, 152 Wn. App. at 657–58. Objective findings "are those within the independent knowledge of the doctor, because they are perceptible to persons other than a patient." *Hinds v. Johnson*, 55 Wn.2d 325, 327, 347 P.2d 828 (1959). In contrast, "[s]ubjective symptoms are those perceived only by the senses and feelings of a patient." *Id*.

The courts have long held that workers cannot reopen claims with testimony based entirely on subjective symptoms. Instead, workers must provide medical testimony, based at least in part on objective medical findings, that their industrially related condition worsened since claim closure. *Tollycraft Yachts Corp.*, 122 Wn.2d at 432, 433 ("the burden is on the injured worker to produce some objective medical evidence, verified by a physician, that his or her injury has worsened *since* the initial closure of the claim" and the Department reopens a claim if "there has been objective worsening of the injured worker's condition"); *Lewis*, 93 Wn.2d

at 3 ("Medical evidence based at least in part on objective symptoms must show that an aggravation of the industrial injury resulted in increased disability."); *Dinnis*, 67 Wn.2d at 656 ("In an aggravation case, the burden of proving a claimed disability to be greater on the last terminal date than on the first terminal date is upon the claimant; and to prevail he must produce medical evidence to that effect based, at least in part, upon objective findings of a physician."); *Phillips*, 49 Wn.2d at 197; *White v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 48 Wn.2d 413, 415, 293 P.2d 764 (1956); *Moses v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 44 Wn.2d 511, 517, 268 P.2d 665 (1954); *Kresoya*, 40 Wn.2d at 45; *Cooper*, 20 Wn.2d at 433; *Cooper*, 188 Wn. App. at 648; *Cantu*, 168 Wn. App. at 20; *Eastwood*, 152 Wn. App. at 657– 58; *Grimes*, 78 Wn. App. at 561.¹

This rule was first set out in *Cooper*, in which the Court held that dismissal of the worker's appeal was appropriate because there was "no

¹ The objective worsening requirement applies when a worker seeks to reopen a claim for a physical condition that a doctor may measure by objective findings. *See Felipe v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 195 Wn. App. 908, 919, 381 P.3d 205 (2016). In *Price v. Department of Labor and Industries*, 101 Wn.2d 520, 528–29, 682 P.2d 307 (1984), the Court clarified that the objective worsening rule does not apply to cases involving psychiatric disability, because symptoms of psychiatric conditions are "necessarily subjective in nature." The Court of Appeals recently applied the *Price* rule to a case involving psychiatric conditions because of post-concussive syndrome, because the symptoms of the injury—"headaches, dizziness, memory problems, fatigue, and depression"—were subjective and could not be "seen, felt, or measured by a physician." *Felipe*, 195 Wn. App. at 911, 919. Contrary to Hendrickson's claim, these cases do not mean that the court no longer requires objective worsening when objective findings are possible like the neck and back conditions here. Pet. 12.

evidence of even one objective symptom on which to base an opinion that since respondent's claim was closed his physical condition had become aggravated due to the injury for which he had already been compensated." *Cooper*, 20 Wn.2d at 433–34. The worker's testimony that he was worse and was suffering more pain was insufficient. *Id.* at 434.

Hendrickson's situation is also like the workers in *Phillips* and *Eastwood*. In *Phillips*, the worker had objective findings at the time of reopening order (the second terminal date), but the record did not establish if they were new objective findings and if they had worsened since claim closure (the first terminal date). 49 Wn.2d at 197-98. Because there was no medical testimony that the objective findings stemmed from a worsened condition, the Court held that the worker failed to prove his claim. *Id. Phillips* is like the case here because Hendrickson had an objective finding at the second terminal date, but that finding was not the result of worsening because she already had it at the first terminal date, when the Department closed her claim.

Similarly, in *Eastwood*, the court upheld denial of the reopening application because "neither of Ms. Eastwood's experts supplied opinions reflecting comparisons that were based upon objective medical evidence of a worsening" *Eastwood*, 152 Wn. App. at 665. One of her doctors testified that her shoulder condition had worsened, yet that opinion "was not based on any comparisons that included an assessment or comparison of objective medical findings over the relative period of time." *Eastwood*, 152 Wn. App. at 660. The doctor testified to significant MRI findings, but the Court held that they did not satisfy the objective worsening requirement because the findings did not worsen between the two MRIs. *Id.* Here, like *Eastwood*, there was no worsening between the MRIs. CP 176.

Contrary to Hendrickson's arguments, *Wilber* did not dispense with the objective-worsening requirement and this Court's later decisions confirm that workers must show objective worsening. *See* Pet. 9-12. In *Wilber*, the worker had suffered a ruptured disk. *Wilber*, 61 Wn.2d at 441, 446. When his claim was originally closed, his doctors advised him to get the disk surgically repaired, but "he declined because of conflicting medical opinion respecting its success." *Id.* at 441. The worker's doctor testified that unless a ruptured disc was surgically corrected, the disability would progress; and it did progress. *Id.* at 442. Wilber's "application to reopen was provoked by a flare-up or acute symptoms which totally incapacitated [him] from any gainful employment." *Id.* at 449. Wilber's complaints were the "classical manifestations uniformly found in cases of unrepaired ruptured intervertebral discs." *Id.* at 446.

In ruling to reopen the claim, the Wilber Court did not say that a worker need not present objective evidence of worsening. See id. at 450-51. Hendrickson argues that there were no increased objective findings in Wilber. Pet. 11. The Court of Appeals, however, noted that the examining physician for the Department in *Wilber* testified the "'left Achilles reflex was decreased" and "is a significant finding in case of ruptured intervertebral discs," and Wilber's complaints of pain were "substantially objective." Hendrickson, 2 Wn. App. 2d at 357 (quoting *Wilber*, 61 Wn.2d at 443). Here, as the Court of Appeals correctly concluded, Hendrickson's subjective complaints of increased pain are unsupported by any objective medical findings that her condition changed after the Department closed her claim. Id. Dr. Martin's undisputed testimony establishes her symptoms remained the same and there was no change between the MRI scans taken before her claim closed and those taken after Hendrickson filed her application to reopen.

Nor is there any support for Hendrickson's singular reliance on *Wilber*. That case does not change the objective worsening requirement. After *Wilber*, this Court again reiterated the requirement of objective worsening to support an aggravation claim. For example, *Dinnis* held that it was not enough for the worker to have evidence that he could not work; instead, to show aggravation, he must show worsening of objective

findings. 67 Wn.2d at 656. The Court again confirmed this rule in *Tollycraft*, 122 Wn.2d at 432, and in *Lewis*, 93 Wn.2d at 3.²

Hendrickson points to liberal construction of the Industrial Insurance Act to urge that *Wilber* has somehow changed the longstanding rule that requires objective worsening. Pet. 20. But the case law does not support this argument and the statute is not ambiguous so it needs no construction.

Hendrickson also argues that *Kresoya* allows her to rely on a mixture of subjective and objective complaints. Pet. at 14. But her objective findings were the same when she sought reopening as they were at claim closure. Nothing in *Kresoya* or later case law dispenses of the requirement to show worsened objective findings, not the same objective findings. *See Kresoya*, 40 Wn.2d at 45; *see Tollycraft*, 122 Wn.2d at 432; *Lewis*, 93 Wn.2d at 3; *Dinnis*, 67 Wn.2d at 656.

² Showing worsening by objective finding is black letter law in workers' compensation cases. The Board routinely applies the standard. *Jerrol E. McFarland*, No. 16 13868, 2017 WL 3427916 (Wash. Bd. Indus. Ins. Appeals July 3, 2017) (no objective worsening); *Jared A. Watkins*, No. 15 17065, 2017 WL 2625622 (Wash. Bd. Indus. Ins. Appeals May 22, 2017) (no objective worsening); *Robert C. McNally, Jr.*, No. 16 12013, 2017 WL 2625682 (Wash. Bd. Indus. Ins. Appeals May 19, 2017) (no objective worsening); *John F. Hall*, No. 15 22463, 2017 WL 2625641 (Wash. Bd. Indus. Ins. Appeals) (no objective worsening); *Richard A. Myrick*, No. 16 12096, 2017 WL 1842410 (Wash. Bd. Indus. Ins. Appeals. 12, 2017) (no objective worsening); *Maria T. Dubon*, No. 16 12848, 2017 WL 1842412 (Wash. Bd. Indus. Ins. Appeals Apr. 4, 2017) (no objective worsening); *Chad G. Gessner*, Nos. 15 25256 & 16 13459, 2017 WL 1378041 (Wash. Bd. Indus. Ins. Appeals Mar. 8, 2017) (objective worsening). These are just a handful of cases at the Board; there are many more.

Thus, case law establishes that the Court has never altered the requirement to establish objective findings of worsening for conditions not susceptible to objective measurement. As a result, the alleged conflict does not exist.

B. No Issue of Substantial Public Interest Is Presented by Following Decades of Case Law

Stare decisis requires workers to present objective evidence of worsening due to the many cases holding that a worker must provide such evidence in order to reopen a claim. Although this Court could only adopt Hendrickson's argument by overruling multiple decisions, Hendrickson does not recognize that this is true, nor does she claim that this Court should abandon that binding precedent. The doctrine of stare decisis requires a clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful before the court abandons it. *Broom v. Morgan Stanley DW Inc.*, 169 Wn.2d 231, 239, 236 P.3d 182 (2010). The objective worsening rule is correct and not harmful under the statutory language and scheme.

The Industrial Insurance Act allows reopening of a claim for "aggravation" of "disability." RCW 51.32.160(1)(a). Although the objective-worsening requirement is not explicitly in the statute, it is implicitly part of the requirement to show aggravation of disability. RCW 51.32.160 allows for reopening only "if *aggravation* . . . of *disability* takes place" (emphasis added). "Aggravation" does not lightly occur: it is "an increase in seriousness or severity" and "an act or circumstance that intensifies or makes worse" *Webster's Third New International Dictionary* 41 (2002). The use of the term "disability" is also significant because courts require workers to prove "disability" by objective findings in other contexts in the Industrial Insurance Act. *E.g.*, *Harper v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 46 Wn.2d 404, 406–07, 281 P.2d 859 (1955) (claim for increased permanent partial disability must be supported by medical testimony about objective findings); *Oien v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 74 Wn. App. 566, 569, 874 P.2d 876, 877 (1994) (claim for temporary total disability must be supported by medical testimony about objective facts). The courts apply the meaning of terms consistently throughout an act. *See State v. Velasquez*, 176 Wn.2d 333, 336, 292 P.3d 92 (2013).

By using the term "disability," which under the Industrial Insurance Act includes objective findings, in conjunction with the term "aggravation," which requires an increase in severity, the Legislature intended for objective findings to show worsening. This intent is confirmed by the Legislature's decision not to change the objectiveworsening requirement derived from the statute for nearly 75 years. By not amending the statute, the Legislature has adopted the interpretation given the statute by the court. *See City of Fed. Way v. Koenig*, 167 Wn.2d 341, 348, 217 P.3d 1172 (2009).

Hendrickson argues that the categories for permanent partial disability support her theory that she need not show worsened objective findings. Pet. 15-17. But because a doctor bases the ratings in the categories on objective findings, any subjective findings are subsumed in the rating. WAC 296-20-19030. The objective-findings-based ratings do not eliminate the need for an objective basis for worsening.

Because the objective-worsening requirement furthers the Legislature's intent regarding worsening, there is no public interest to be served by entertaining Hendrickson's arguments to dilute it. First, the objective-worsening requirement prevents workers from being subjected to unnecessary and potentially harmful medical procedures. *See, e.g.*, *Eastwood*, 152 Wn. App. at 652. In *Eastwood*, for example, the worker's doctor wanted to reopen a claim to perform a third shoulder surgery but provided no objective evidence that worker's condition had worsened, exposing the worker to the risks of surgery. *Id*.

Second, the objective-worsening requirement protects the workers' compensation trust funds from workers who mistakenly believe their industrially related conditions have worsened. *See Kresoya*, 40 Wn.2d at

45-46. The Kresoya Court made this purpose clear when it explained the

reasoning behind the requirement:

The rule that an expert medical witness may not base his opinion upon subjective symptoms alone is designed to protect the industrial insurance fund against unfounded claims of aggravation. If such claims could be established by the testimony of a physician who based his opinion entirely upon what the worker told him, it would open the door to fraudulent claims, as well as those mistakenly made in good faith. A [worker] might honestly believe his subsequent condition arose out of his original injury, but this is a medical question and an opinion thereon must be derived from sources other than the claimant's statement.

Kresoya, 40 Wn.2d at 45–46 (emphasis added). Hendrickson argues that she satisfies this purpose because she had objective findings when she sought reopening. Pet. 14. But she again overlooks that her objective findings were the same at the time of claim closure as they were when she sought reopening. Thus, they do not show worsening. *Phillips*, 49 Wn.2d at 197. Because there are no increased objective findings of worsening, her request for reopening necessarily depends entirely on her subjective complaints. CP 172–75.

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